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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE NORTHERN DISTRICT OF ALABAMA
SOUTHERN DIVISION
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Defendant-Intervenors,
and

COUNTY OF SANTA CLARA,
CALIFORNIA, et al.,

Defendant-Intervenors,
and
STATE OF NEW YORK, et al.,

Defendant-Intervenors.

Case No.: 2:18-cv-00772-RDP

Reply Brief in Response to the Court’s July 21. 2020 Order

FILED

2020 Aug-10 PM 05:24
U.S. DISTRICT COURT
N.D. OF ALABAMA



Case 2:18-cv-00772-RDP Document 160 Filed 08/10/20 Page 2 of 8

INTRODUCTION

The Court should stay this case. No live issue remains for the Court to decide, as
the July 21, 2020 Presidential Memorandum titled “Excluding Illegal Aliens From the
Apportionment Base Following the 2020 Census” (“Memorandum”), 85 Fed. Reg. 44679
(July 23, 2020), effectively granted the relief Plaintiffs sought. At the same time, a stay,
instead of dismissal, best preserves judicial resources: rather than deciding now the
justiciability issues raised in the opening briefs, the Court may simply pick up the case if
a live case presents itself once again. Thus, Local Government Defendant-Intervenors
and State and Other Government Defendant-Intervenors (“Government Defendant-
Intervenors”) respectfully request that the Court enter a temporary stay pending the
resolution of the litigations challenging the validity of the Memorandum.

ARGUMENT

This Court has the inherent power to issue a stay—and in these circumstances,
should exercise that power. First, if the Memorandum is valid, Plaintiffs will not be
harmed. Indeed, the Memorandum resolves Plaintiffs’ harms arising from “Defendants’
unconstitutional and arbitrary decision to include illegal aliens in the census numbers
utilized for calculating congressional and electoral apportionment,” Dkt. 112 { 4,
proclaiming that any apportionment “that does not use the best available methods to
exclude illegal aliens from the apportionment base used to apportion congressional seats
and Electoral College votes among the states would be unconstitutional.” Id. at 1 144(b).

Defendants appear to agree, writing, “The Presidential Memorandum makes clear

that the Residence Rule does not, as a legal matter, stand in the way of excluding illegal



Case 2:18-cv-00772-RDP Document 160 Filed 08/10/20 Page 3 of 8

aliens from the apportionment count transmitted to Congress.” Dkt. 158 at 2. Plaintiffs
maintain there is no guarantee that Defendants will ultimately provide relief. But they
have not articulated how any relief the Court could provide at this juncture would exceed
the relief granted by the Memorandum, which already requires Defendants to “take all
appropriate action, consistent with the Constitution and other applicable law,” to allow
the President to carry out a “policy . . . to exclude from the apportionment base aliens
who are not in a lawful immigration status.” Memorandum at 44680. This is effectively
what Plaintiffs sought in their prayer for relief.

Second, a stay conserves judicial resources. It is unnecessary at this juncture for
the Court to wade into the jurisdictional and justiciability issues presented by the parties
in their opening briefs because their resolution may well prove unnecessary. A stay
should be lifted in the event the Memorandum is invalidated in the litigations challenging
it, because at that point—and only at that point—~Plaintiffs would need an order from this
Court to obtain the relief they seek. A temporary stay also avoids the considerable risk
that proceeding now, as Plaintiffs have urged, may cause the Court to render an advisory
opinion on the merits.

Defendants indicated within a footnote that at some point in the future they “may .
.. request” that a three-judge court be convened pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 2284. Dkt. 158
at 5 n.1. Because no party has requested the appointment of a three-judge court yet,
Government Defendant-Intervenors take no position on the application of that statute at
this point. Should the Court be inclined to proceed despite the uncertainty of whether

Plaintiffs require disposition of their claims to obtain meaningful relief, discovery should
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continue. Government Defendant-Intervenors do not understand Defendants’ contention

that jurisdictional discovery is no longer necessary in light of the Memorandum. The

Court has previously permitted discovery, and the Memorandum certainly does not make

jurisdiction more apparent.

For these reasons and the reasons provided in the opening brief, the Court should

stay the action.

DATED: August 10, 2020
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

| hereby certify that on August 10, 2020, a true and correct copy of the foregoing

was served electronically to counsel of record agreed to by the parties.

/s/ Robert S. Vance

Dated: August 10, 2020



